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P R O C E E D I N G S 1 

----------------------------------------------------- 2 

    CHAIR:  Good morning.  I'm Denise 3 

Smyler, Chair of the Gaming Control Board.  I would 4 

like to ask everybody to please silence your cell 5 

phones and all electronic devices at this time.  With 6 

five Board members present this morning, I'd like to 7 

now call today's meeting to order.   8 

    Excuse me, gentlemen.  I get no 9 

respect.   10 

    Anyway, in addition to the - well, I'm 11 

sorry.  Oh.  I would note for the record that 12 

Commissioner Sara Manzano-Díaz is not joining us 13 

today due to an unavoidable conflict.   14 

    However, she did fully participate in 15 

yesterday's Executive Session.   16 

    In addition to the five Board members 17 

present, we also have ex-officio members, Jorge 18 

Augusto, representing Russell Redding, Secretary for 19 

the Department of Agriculture; Adria Zimmerman, 20 

representing Pat Browne, Secretary for the Department 21 

of Revenue, and Jennifer Langan representing Stacy 22 

Garrity, State Treasurer.  Thank you, ex-officios for 23 

joining us.   24 

    As the first order of business, I'd 25 
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like now ask everybody to please stand and join me in 1 

a recitation of the Pledge of Allegiance.   2 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE RECITED 3 

    CHAIR:  By way of announcements, as I 4 

noted earlier, the Board held an Executive Session 5 

yesterday, Tuesday, November 18th to discuss pending 6 

litigation and to conduct quasi-judicial 7 

deliberations relating to matters coming before the 8 

Board.   9 

    So, today we have several public 10 

hearings.   11 

PUBLIC HEARINGS HELD   12 

    CHAIR:  I would now ask for approval 13 

of the Board meeting transcript and minutes from the 14 

August 20, '25 meeting.   15 

    May I have a motion, please?   16 

    MR. DERMODY:  Madam Chair, 17 

Commissioner Dermody moves that the Board approve the 18 

minutes and transcript of the August 20, 2025 19 

meeting.   20 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Commissioner Huffman 21 

seconds.   22 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   23 

AYES RESPOND 24 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion’s 25 
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adopted.   1 

    Now we will hear from our Executive 2 

Director, Kevin O'Toole. Kevin?  3 

OFF RECORD DISCUSSION 4 

    CHAIR:  I'm sorry.  Go ahead.   5 

    MR. O'TOOLE:  Good morning, Chair 6 

Smyler.  Good morning, members of the Board.   7 

    For today's Executive Director's 8 

Report, I would like to report on continued growth of 9 

gaming revenue in Pennsylvania.   10 

    The Office of Communications issued 11 

this morning its Press Release for the month of 12 

October regarding gaming revenue generated from all 13 

forms of gaming regulated by the Board.  Total gaming 14 

revenue was just under $597 million for the month of 15 

October, an increase of 20.22 percent over the 16 

aggregated revenue generated this time last year.   17 

    The impetus for that revenue increase 18 

in October of this year was led by Sports Wagering 19 

revenue, which increased to $60.6 million, an 20 

increase of 121 percent over October of 2024's Sports 21 

Wagering revenue of $27.3 million.   22 

    As in previous months, igaming Slot 23 

revenue and iGaming Table Game revenue increased 24 

significantly from the previous year.  iGaming Slot 25 
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revenue increased by 35 percent and iGaming Table 1 

Game revenue increased by 25 percent.   2 

    We also saw an increase of 3 

approximately one-and-a-half percent in Land-based 4 

casino slot revenue and an increase of 3 percent in 5 

Land-based table game revenue.   6 

    Additionally, the total tax revenue 7 

generated collectively through all forms of gaming 8 

was $252 million remitted in the month of October 9 

2025.   10 

    Any time we recognize the growth of 11 

online gaming, we need to be extra cognizant of 12 

problem gambling and we need to assess whether our 13 

and the industry's responsible gaming programs are 14 

effective.   15 

    I believe that the Industry's and the 16 

Board's efforts to address problem gambling are 17 

effective.  Through the tool of Self-Imposed Limits, 18 

patrons can place limits on the time they spend 19 

gambling, limits on the amount of their deposits to 20 

their online gaming wallets or wallet, limits on the 21 

amount of their wagers and limits on the amount of 22 

their overall spend.   23 

    In addition, they can have a cool-off 24 

period.  A cool-off period must be a minimum of 72 25 
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hours, three days, but it can be extended as long as 1 

a patron feels it's appropriate for them to do so.   2 

    In collaboration with the Online 3 

Gaming Operators, the Board's Office of Compulsive 4 

and Problem Gambling maintain statistics on the use 5 

of these self-imposed limits.  The statistic that I 6 

find most significant is the percent of Pennsylvania 7 

online accounts with limits set during any particular 8 

month.   9 

    For each of the past six months, over 10 

5 percent of online gamblers in Pennsylvania have 11 

taken advantage of the limits that I just described. 12 

Five percent of online gamblers calculates - and I 13 

was going to say approximately $600,000 - 600,000 14 

registered online players, but I have the statistics 15 

in front of me and it's actually 635,486 individual 16 

patron accounts.  Patrons can only have one account. 17 

    So, that's a total number of online 18 

gaming patrons in the month of October that took 19 

advantage of these self-imposed limits that really 20 

serve the purpose of helping them control their 21 

gambling activity and not get to a point where it is 22 

a problem to them and their family and other people 23 

around - around them.   24 

    So, that's my report for today.  Thank 25 
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you very much.   1 

    CHAIR:  Thank you, Kevin.  Next is our 2 

Office of Chief Counsel (OCC).   3 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  Morning.   4 

    CHAIR:  Morning.   5 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  Before the Board today 6 

are 10 Petitions.  Four of these Petitions, three of 7 

which were consolidated into one hearing, were heard 8 

by the Board earlier today during public hearings.  9 

The remaining six Petitions will be decided on the 10 

documentary record, as the Office of Enforcement 11 

Counsel (OEC) has no objection to the relief 12 

requested and the Petitioner has no objection to the 13 

conditions requested in OEC's Answer. 14 

    In each of these matters the Board has 15 

received the record in its entirety before today's 16 

Board meeting and the matters are now ripe for the 17 

Board's consideration.   18 

    The first three Petitions before the 19 

Board today all pertain to SC Gaming OpCo, operator 20 

of the proposed Happy Valley Casino just outside of 21 

State College.  Specifically, SC Gaming filed a 22 

Petition to Operate Slot Machines, a Petition to 23 

approve the - them conducting table games and a 24 

request to approve a Shared - or two Shared Services 25 
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Agreements.  These three requests were consolidated 1 

and heard by the Board just a few moments ago.   2 

    Unless the Board has any questions of 3 

the OEC, these matters are now ready for the Board's 4 

consideration.  And although consolidated during the 5 

hearing, each matter will be the subject of its own 6 

motion.   7 

    Hearing no questions, the first motion 8 

for the Board's consideration is SC Gaming's Petition 9 

to Operate Slot Machines.   10 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments from 11 

the Board? 12 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion, 13 

please?  14 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Madam Chair,  15 

Commissioner Dunbar moves that the Board grant SC 16 

Gaming's OpCo's Petition to Operate Slot Machines, 17 

subject to the conditions that will be outlined in 18 

the Board's Order.   19 

    MR. DILLON:  Commissioner Dillon 20 

seconds.   21 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   22 

AYES RESPOND 23 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion is 24 

adopted.   25 



 
 

S argent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

14 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  The next motion 1 

pertains to SC Gaming's Petition for Approval to 2 

Conduct Table Games and the Issuance of a Table Games 3 

Certificate for Happy Valley Casino.   4 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  5 

May I have a motion please?   6 

    MR. DILLON:  Madam Chair, Commissioner 7 

Dillon moves that the Board grant SC Gaming Op's 8 

Petition for Approval for - Conduct Table Games and 9 

Issuance of a Table Games Operation Certificate for 10 

Happy Valley Casino, subject to the conditions that 11 

will be outlined in the Board's Order.   12 

    MR. DERMODY:  Commissioner Dermody 13 

seconds.   14 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?  15 

AYES RESPOND 16 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 17 

adopted.   18 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  The third and final 19 

Petition related to SC Gaming is its request for 20 

approval of two Shared Services Agreements.   21 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  22 

May I have a motion please?  23 

    MR. DERMODY:  Madam Chair, 24 

Commissioner Dermody moves that the Board grant SC 25 
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Gaming OpCo's Petition for approval of Shared 1 

Services Agreements subject to the conditions that 2 

will be outlined in the Board's Order.   3 

    I further move that SC Gaming OpCo's 4 

Motion to Protect Confidentiality be granted and 5 

OEC's Motion be granted in part.   6 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Commissioner Huffman 7 

seconds.   8 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   9 

AYES RESPOND 10 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion carries.  11 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  The next Petition 12 

before the Board is GW Cumberland OpCo, doing 13 

business as Parx Shippensburg's request to modify 14 

their Gaming Floor requesting removal of electronic 15 

table games and replacing them with 12 live Dealer 16 

table games.   17 

    Parx is also seeking a waiver of 18 

certain regulatory requirements pertaining - 19 

pertaining to minimum staffing plans and chip bank 20 

placement.  The Board heard from Parx and the OEC 21 

again just a few moments ago during a public hearing 22 

and this matter is now ready for the Board's 23 

consideration.   24 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  25 
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May I have a motion please?   1 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Madam Chair, Commissioner 2 

Dunbar moves that the Board grant G.W. Cumberland's 3 

OpCo's Petition to Modify the Gaming Floor Plan and 4 

Waiver certain operational requirements, subject to 5 

the conditions that will be outlined in the Board's 6 

Order and of both parties' Motions to Protect 7 

Confidential Information be granted.   8 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Commissioner Huffman 9 

seconds.   10 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   11 

AYES RESPOND 12 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion carries.  13 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  Next before the Board 14 

is Holdings Acquisition Company, LP doing business as 15 

Rivers Pittsburgh and Rivers Portsmouth Holdings LP's 16 

Joint Petition for Approval of a Consolidated 17 

Financing Transactions and Interim Authorizations.  18 

The parties are seeking approval of an Equity 19 

Purchase Agreement, whereby the shares of Rivers 20 

Casino Pittsburgh's parent company will be purchased 21 

or be exchanged with between one group of owners and 22 

a second group of owners, which will ultimately 23 

change the ownership of Rivers Casino Pittsburgh, 24 

although the ultimate control of the operator will 25 
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remain in the same hands.  The OEC has no objection 1 

to this Petition, but requests certain conditions 2 

which are outlined in their Answer.  Additionally, I 3 

would note for the record that because this is a 4 

change of ownership, although not a change of 5 

control, it is still subject to a change of control 6 

fee pursuant to the Act.  The amount of that fee is 7 

at the discretion of the Board and this matter is now 8 

ripe for the Board's consideration.   9 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  10 

May I have a motion please?   11 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Madam Chair, 12 

Commissioner Huffman moves that the Board grant the 13 

Joint Petition for Approval of Consolidation 14 

Financing Transactions and Interim Authorizations as 15 

described by the OCC, subject to the conditions that 16 

will be outlined in the Board's Order, including the 17 

payment of a $100,000 charge - Change in Condition 18 

(sic) Fee. 19 

    I further move that the Board - that 20 

both parties' Motions to Protect Confidential 21 

Information be granted.   22 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Commissioner Dunbar 23 

seconds.   24 

    CHAIR:  And that's Change of Control 25 
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Fee, not Change of Condition Fee, just for the 1 

record.   2 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  I'm sorry.   3 

    CHAIR:  That's okay.  All in favor? 4 

AYES RESPOND 5 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion passes.   6 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  Next before the Board 7 

is Hacksaw Gaming PA LLC's Petition for an  8 

after-the-fact approval of a corporate restructuring. 9 

Hacksaw Gaming LP, LLC (sic) is a company that 10 

provides iGaming content to operators and certificate 11 

holders.  Hacksaw Gaming PA is a wholly owned 12 

subsidiary of Hacksaw Gaming US, LLC, which is in 13 

turn owned by Hacksaw Gaming Limited.   14 

    Prior to June 2025, Hacksaw Gaming 15 

Limited was owned by Hacksaw AB, a privately held 16 

company which had an 85 percent interest and Lollipop 17 

Assets Limited which held a 15 percent interest.  An 18 

internal restructuring occurred, whereby Hacksaw AB 19 

acquired Lollipop's interest in the company, 20 

resulting in Hacksaw AB becoming the sole owner of 21 

Hacksaw Gaming Limited.   22 

    This is a change of control, but it 23 

did not result in any new shareholders holding 5 24 

percent or more of Hacksaw AB shares, and no new 25 
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individuals or entities were required to be licensed 1 

as principals or affiliates.   2 

    The OEC had no objection to this 3 

change of or - I'm sorry, this internal 4 

restructuring, subject to conditions outlined in its 5 

Answer and this matter is now ripe for the Board's 6 

consideration.   7 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  8 

May I have a motion, please?   9 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Madam Chair,  10 

Commissioner Dunbar moves that the Board grant 11 

Hacksaw Gaming's PA LLC's Petition for  12 

Nunc Pro Tunc Approval of a Corporate Restructuring, 13 

as described by the OCC, subject to the conditions 14 

that will be outlined in the Board's Order.   15 

    I further move that Hacksaw Gaming PA 16 

LLC's Motion to Protect Confidential Information be 17 

granted in part and that OEC's Motion be granted.   18 

    MR. DILLON:  Commissioner Dillon 19 

seconds.   20 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   21 

AYES RESPOND 22 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion’s 23 

adopted.   24 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  Next before the Board 25 



 
 

S argent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

20 

is Zitro USA, Inc's Petition for Approval of an 1 

Internal Restructuring.  Zitro USA, Inc. holds a Slot 2 

Machine Manufacturer License with the Board.  They 3 

manufacture and distribute gaming equipment, which 4 

includes land-based slot machines.  Zitro 5 

Technologies SLU is the 100 percent owner of Zitro 6 

USA.  Jessan Participations S.a.r.l is a Luxembourg 7 

based - Luxembourg based limited liability company.  8 

Both Zitro Technologies and Jessan are 100 percent 9 

owned by Johnny Ortiz de Viveros.   10 

    The proposed reorganization will 11 

entail 100 percent of the securities of Zitro 12 

Technologies SLU being contributed and transferred to 13 

a new entity and a sister company, Zitro Holdings 14 

S.a.r.l., also a Luxembourg based limited liability 15 

company.  Mr. Ortiz de Viveros' ownership in the 16 

companies remain the same.  He remains the 100 17 

percent owner upstream of our licensee.   18 

    The OEC has no objection to the 19 

request, subject to conditions outlined in its 20 

Answer, and this matter is now ripe for the Board's 21 

consideration.   22 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  23 

May I have a motion, please?   24 

    MR. DILLON:  Madam Chair,  25 
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Commissioner Dillon moves that the Board grant Zitro 1 

USA's - Inc. Petition for Approval of a Proposed 2 

Internal Reorganization as described by the OCC, 3 

subject to the conditions that will be outlined in 4 

the Board's Order.   5 

    MR. DERMODY:  Commissioner Dermody 6 

seconds.   7 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   8 

AYES RESPOND 9 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion passes.   10 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  The next matter is a 11 

request for removal from the Self-Exclusion List 12 

filed by an individual with the initials A.L.   13 

    On April 24th, 2015, A.L. placed 14 

himself on the List choosing the lifetime  15 

self-exclusion option.   16 

    On September 19th, 2025, more than ten 17 

years later, A.L. filed a request for removal from 18 

the List, stating that his exclusion was affecting 19 

his ability to make deliveries to casinos for his 20 

employment.  As required by the Board's regulations, 21 

A.L. provided the required Problem Gambling 22 

Assessment Verification Form signed by a Certified 23 

Assessment Provider confirming that an assessment of 24 

A.L. was conducted and that problem gambling 25 
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treatment was not recommended.   1 

    The OEC has no objection to this 2 

request, it having been ten years since this person 3 

signed up for the List and his having submitted all 4 

required documentation.   5 

    And also they noted that there were no 6 

known violations of the self-exclusion. 7 

    And this matter is now ripe for the 8 

Board's consideration.   9 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  10 

May I have a motion, please?   11 

    MR. DERMODY:  Madam Chair, 12 

Commissioner Dermody moves that the Board grant 13 

A.L.'s Petition for removal from the casino Self-14 

Exclusion List as described by the OCC.   15 

    MR. DILLON:  Commissioner Dillon 16 

seconds.   17 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   18 

AYES RESPOND 19 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 20 

adopted.   21 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  Next before the Board 22 

is another request for removal from the  23 

Self-Exclusion List.  On July 14th, 2014, an 24 

individual with the initials N.F. placed himself on 25 
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the List, choosing the lifetime self-exclusion 1 

option.   2 

    On September 18th, 2025, more than ten 3 

years later, N.F. filed his request for removal from 4 

- removal from the List indicating that it was 5 

impacting his employment as well.  Per the Board's 6 

regulations, N.F. has provided the required Problem 7 

Gambling Assessment Form signed by a Certified 8 

Assessment Provider, indicating that an assessment 9 

was conducted and N.F. was not - he did not need to 10 

undergo a problem gambling treatment.   11 

    The OEC filed an Answer stating that 12 

they had no objection to N.F.'s request, it being 13 

more than ten years and the appropriate review by a 14 

counselor having occurred.  OEC did, however, note 15 

for the record that during the ten-year period of 16 

self-exclusion, N.F. had seven violations, including 17 

four in which he was actually caught gaming. 18 

    And this matter is now ripe for the 19 

Board's consideration.   20 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  21 

May I have a motion, please?   22 

    MR. DILLON:  Madam Chair, Commissioner 23 

Dillon moves that the Board remand this matter to the 24 

Board's Office of Hearings and Appeals (OHA) to hold 25 
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a hearing and establish an evidentiary record on 1 

N.F.'s Petition for Removal from the casino  2 

Self-Exclusion List.   3 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Commissioner Huffman 4 

seconds.   5 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   6 

AYES RESPOND 7 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 8 

adopted.   9 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  The final Petition 10 

before the Board today is a request - a third request 11 

to be removed from the Self-Exclusion List.   12 

    On October 4th, 2010, an individual 13 

with the initials T.H. placed himself on the List, 14 

choosing the lifetime self-exclusion option.   15 

    On August 27th, 2025, T.H. filed his 16 

request for removal from the List stating essentially 17 

that he'd been on the List for a substantial period 18 

of time; he was now retiring and would like to go 19 

back to and enjoy casinos.  He submitted the Problem 20 

Gambling Assessment Verification Form signed by a 21 

Certified Assessment Provider indicating that 22 

treatment was not needed.   23 

    OEC filed an Answer indicating that 24 

because all the regulatory prerequisites were met, 25 
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they had no objection to his removal from the List 1 

and this matter is now ripe for the Board's 2 

consideration.   3 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  4 

May I have a motion, please?   5 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Madam Chair, 6 

Commissioner Huffman moves that the Board grant 7 

T.H.’s Petition for Removal from the casino Self-8 

Exclusion List as described by the OCC.   9 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Commissioner Dunbar 10 

seconds.   11 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   12 

AYES RESPOND 13 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 14 

adopted.   15 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  Next, presenting 16 

Withdrawals and Reports and Recommendations is Deputy 17 

Chief Counsel Chad Zimmermann.   18 

    ATTORNEY ZIMMERMANN:  Good morning, 19 

Madam Chair, members of the Board.  The next matter 20 

before the Board today pertains to several unopposed 21 

Petitions to withdraw applications or surrender the 22 

credentials of the following individuals and 23 

entities:  Steve Preiss; Michael Bauer; Scot 24 

McClintic; NSUS Group, Inc.;  NSUS Lab Korea, LLC; 25 
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Mansoo Kim; Taebum Kim; Clyde Brown; Bracelet IP 1 

Limited; Bracelet Holdings; Inc.; Amelco UK Limited; 2 

Killian Heneghan; Damian Walton; Natalie Walton; Leon 3 

Wynne; Helen Stewart; Brian Agnew; William 4 

Quidgeon,Jr.; Kenneth Davison; Jamie Sanko; Benjamin 5 

Oates; Leslie Peters; Rinat Belfer; Dewitt Carter; 6 

Judith Hamburger; Salix Trust Co. (BVI) Ltd.;  7 

Oakvale Ventures Limited; Bettor Capital HoldCo I, 8 

LLC; Bettor Capital VoteCo, LLC; Bettor Capital Fund 9 

I, LP; David Ryan VanEgmond; Jacob Kleiner; Saltium 10 

Investment Limited; Ugnius Simelionis; Triple Bells 11 

B.V.; Triple Bells Holding B.V.; Vermes Capital B.V.; 12 

Michael Vermes; Van den Oetelaar Capital B.V.; Cash 13 

Holding BV and Stephanus van den Oetelaar.   14 

    The OEC has no objections to any of 15 

those Withdrawals or Surrenders.  And as a result, if 16 

the Board chooses to grant the request, it would be 17 

doing so without prejudice to the requester.  And 18 

these matters are all now ripe for the Board's 19 

consideration.   20 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  21 

May I have a motion, please?   22 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Madam Chair,  23 

Commissioner Dunbar moves that the Board issue Orders 24 

to approve the Withdrawals and Surrenders as 25 
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described by the OCC.   1 

    MR. DILLON:  Commissioner Dillon 2 

seconds.   3 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   4 

AYES RESPOND 5 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 6 

adopted.   7 

    ATTORNEY ZIMMERMANN:  Next before the 8 

Board for consideration are six Reports and 9 

Recommendations received from the OHA.  These Reports 10 

and Recommendations, along with the evidentiary 11 

record for each hearing, have been provided to the 12 

Board in advance of today's meeting.  Additionally, 13 

the persons involved in each have been notified that 14 

the Board would be considering their matter today and 15 

that each would have the ability to come forward and 16 

briefly address the Board.   17 

    If any of the persons who are the 18 

subject to one of these Reports and Recommendations 19 

are present and would like to address the Board, I 20 

would ask them to come forward when their matter is 21 

called.  The first Report and Recommendation before 22 

the Board today pertains to Frank Aviles.  Mr. Aviles 23 

holds (sic) a Gaming Employee Occupation Permit and 24 

was employed as a Security Officer at Rivers Casino 25 
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Philadelphia.   1 

    On August 22nd, 2025, the OEC filed a 2 

Complaint for Emergency Suspension of Mr. Aviles' 3 

Gaming Employee Occupation Permit after receiving 4 

notice that he had been criminally charged with 5 

felony and misdemeanor offenses.  As a result of the 6 

charges, the Board's Executive Director issued an 7 

Emergency Order suspending Mr. Aviles' permit.   8 

    A hearing in this matter was held 9 

September 2025.  OEC appeared at the hearing, 10 

offering testimony and documentary evidence.  Mr. 11 

Aviles appeared pro se and testified on his own 12 

behalf.   13 

    Evidence and testimony presented at 14 

the hearing showed that Mr. Aviles had been charged 15 

with two felony offenses of aggravated assault and 16 

strangulation and two lesser included misdemeanors 17 

following allegations that he was involved in a 18 

domestic dispute with his girlfriend in which he 19 

punched and strangled her.  The charges remain 20 

pending.   21 

    Following the hearing, a Report and 22 

Recommendation was issued, recommending that the 23 

suspension of Mr. Aviles's permit remain in effect, 24 

and this matter is now ready for the Board's 25 
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consideration.   1 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  2 

May I have a motion, please?   3 

    MR. DILLON:  Madam Chair, Commissioner 4 

Dillon moves that the Board adopt the Report and 5 

Recommendation issued by the OHA as described by the 6 

OCC and the suspension of Frank Aviles' Gaming 7 

Employee Occupation (sic) remain in effect.   8 

    MR. DERMODY:  Commissioner Dermody 9 

seconds.   10 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   11 

AYES RESPOND 12 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion passes.   13 

    ATTORNEY ZIMMERMANN:  Khalil Hill's 14 

Report and Recommendation's next before the Board,  15 

    Mr. Hill was issued a Gaming Employee 16 

Occupation Permit to work in the position of Table 17 

Games Dealer at Harrah's Philadelphia Casino.   18 

    On July 11, 2025, the OEC filed a 19 

Complaint for Emergency Suspension of Mr. Hill's 20 

permit after receiving notice that he had been 21 

criminally charged with felony offenses.  As a result 22 

of those charges, the Board's Executive Director 23 

issued an Emergency Order suspending Mr. Hill's 24 

permit.   25 
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    Following an informal hearing held in 1 

July of 2025, the OHA issued an Order finding that 2 

Mr. Hill's suspension should remain in effect.  A 3 

hearing on the validity of the suspension was held in 4 

September of 2025.  OEC appeared providing testimony 5 

and documentary evidence.  Mr. Hill, however, failed 6 

to appear and the hearing was held in his absence.   7 

Evidence presented showed that on June 30, 2025, 8 

after a traffic stop, Mr. Hill was arrested for both 9 

misdemeanor and felony drug charges, along with a 10 

felony firearm offense, all of which remained 11 

pending.   12 

    Following a hearing, a Report and 13 

Recommendation was issued, recommending that the 14 

Emergency Suspension of Mr. Hill's permit remain in 15 

effect.  And this matter is now ripe for the Board's 16 

consideration.   17 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  18 

May I have a motion, please?   19 

    MR. DERMODY:  Madam Chair,  20 

Commissioner Dermody moves that the Board adopt the 21 

Report and Recommendation issued by the OHA as 22 

described by the OCC and that the suspension of 23 

Khalil Hill's Gaming Employee Occupation Permit 24 

remain in effect.   25 
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    MR. HUFFMAN:  Commissioner Huffman 1 

seconds.   2 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   3 

AYES RESPOND 4 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion passes.   5 

    ATTORNEY ZIMMERMANN:  The next Report 6 

and Recommendation before the Board today is Antwan 7 

Morganfield.  In March of 2025, Mr. Morganfield 8 

submitted an Application for a Non-Gaming Employee 9 

Registration to work as a Beverage Barback at Presque 10 

Isle Downs Casino.   11 

    In April 2025, the OEC filed a Notice 12 

of Recommendation of Denial of Mr. Morganfield's 13 

application, based on his criminal record and 14 

outstanding fines and costs owed to the Court.   15 

    A hearing in this matter was held 16 

August 5th, 2025.  OEC appeared offering testimonial 17 

and documentary evidence.  Mr. Morganfield also 18 

appeared and testified on his own behalf.   19 

    Evidence and testimony at the hearing 20 

showed that Mr. Morganfield had previously held a 21 

Gaming and - Non-Gaming Employee Registration to work 22 

at Presque Isle as a Clubhouse Cook.  In 2018, he 23 

again applied for a Housekeeper position.  However, 24 

his application was denied by the Board due to his 25 
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criminal history between October 2012 and April 2018, 1 

which consisted of violations of a Protection from 2 

Abuse Order, misdemeanor retail theft, harassment and 3 

disorderly conduct, as well as the fact that he owed 4 

outstanding fines and costs to the Court.  Mr. 5 

Morganfield had entered the ARD Program in 2013 for 6 

the retail theft and disorderly conduct.  He was 7 

arrested again in 2019 for violation of a PFA Order. 8 

That was six years ago.   9 

    Mr. Morganfield tested (sic) that 10 

since 2020 he has been steadily employed as a Cook 11 

that has gotten to know himself better and would like 12 

to be able to provide a life for his daughter.   13 

Pertaining to the fines owed to the Court, Mr. 14 

Morganfield testified that he had not received any 15 

notice from the Court regarding that money's owed, 16 

that he's afraid to approach the Court, as it may 17 

result in additional charges for his failure to pay 18 

those costs.   19 

    After hearing all the evidence 20 

presented, a Report and Recommendation was issued 21 

recommending that Mr. Morganfield's application be 22 

denied, with the caveat that he could reapply prior 23 

to the expiration of the traditional five-year 24 

prohibition if he can show that he has entered a 25 
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payment arrangement for the outstanding fines and 1 

costs.   2 

    This matter is now ready for the 3 

Board's consideration.   4 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  5 

May I have a motion, please?   6 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Madam Chair, Commissioner 7 

Dunbar moves that the Board reject the Report and 8 

Recommendation issued by the OHA as described by the 9 

OCC and that Antwan Morganfield's application for   10 

Non - Non-Gaming Employee Registration be granted, 11 

subject to the imposition of a special condition 12 

relating to the payment of outstanding fine and cost 13 

which will be outlined in the Board's Order.   14 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Commissioner Huffman 15 

seconds.   16 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   17 

AYES RESPOND 18 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion’s 19 

adopted.   20 

    ATTORNEY ZIMMERMANN:  Next before the 21 

Board is Mark Fornal's Report and Recommendation.  On 22 

April 24, 2024, the Board issued an Order placing Mr. 23 

Fornal on the Involuntary Interactive Gaming 24 

Exclusion List after learning he had initiated and 25 
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been successful in a chargeback of $1,500 to his 1 

credit card after he had deposited, wagered and lost 2 

that amount while engaged in iGaming.   3 

    In December 2024, Mr. Fornal sent a 4 

letter to the Board asking if he could be removed 5 

from the Exclusion List if he paid back the $1,500.  6 

A hearing in this matter was scheduled for March 19, 7 

2025.  OEC appeared and provided testimony.  Mr. 8 

Fornal, however, failed to attend.  However, on the 9 

next day, he requested that the record be reopened 10 

and a new hearing be scheduled.  This was granted and 11 

a new hearing was scheduled for October 1st, 2025, 12 

when Mr. Fornal again failed to appear.  OEC then 13 

requested that the Petition be dismissed.   14 

    On October 3rd, 2025, a Report and 15 

Recommendation was issued, recommending that Mr. 16 

Fornal's Petition be dismissed.   17 

    This matter is now ripe for the 18 

Board's consideration.   19 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  20 

May I have a motion, please?   21 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Madam Chair.  22 

Commissioner Huffman moves that the Board adopt the 23 

Report and Recommendation issued by the OHA as 24 

described by the OCC and that Mark Fornal's Petition 25 
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for Removal from the Involuntary Interactive Gaming 1 

Exclusion List be denied.   2 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Commissioner Dunbar 3 

seconds.   4 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   5 

AYES RESPOND 6 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion passes.   7 

    ATTORNEY ZIMMERMANN:  The next Report 8 

and Recommendation before the Board today stems from 9 

a request for early removal from the Voluntary 10 

Interactive Gaming Self-Exclusion List by - or Casino 11 

Self-Exclusion List by an individual with the 12 

initials D.C.  13 

     By way of background, D.C. placed 14 

himself on the casino Self-Exclusion List  15 

November 27, 2024, choosing the five year exclusion 16 

period.  On December 11, 2024, D.C. requested removal 17 

from the List.  Thereafter, December 17, 2024, the 18 

OHA issued a staff Decision and Order denying the 19 

request.   20 

    D.C. appealed the Decision and a 21 

hearing was held in April 2025.  The OEC appeared, 22 

presenting documentary and testimonial evidence.  23 

D.C. failed to appear and the hearing was held in his 24 

absence.   25 
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    D.C. did contact the OHA and requested 1 

another hearing, which was held in September of 2025.  2 

OEC once again appeared and provided additional 3 

testimony and documentary evidence.  D.C. appeared 4 

and testified on their - on his own behalf.   5 

    Evidence and testimony presented at 6 

the hearing showed that D.C. had properly filled out 7 

all the exclusion forms, signing all required 8 

acknowledgments stating that he was a problem 9 

gambler, that he was excluding himself from casinos 10 

and gaming-related activities and that he could not 11 

be removed from the List until after the expiration 12 

of his exclusion period.   13 

    D.C. testified that he did not submit 14 

the forms in November of 2025.  He stated that he 15 

began the exclusion process to exclude himself in 16 

April of 2025 - or April 2024 for one year and that 17 

he took the required picture of himself with his 18 

license but was unable to complete the - complete the 19 

exclusion application.  D.C. stated that this 20 

exclusion application was finalized on a second phone 21 

belonging to an ex-girlfriend and that she had 22 

uploaded another live photo and chose the five year 23 

exclusion period.   24 

    After hearing all the evidence 25 
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presented, a Report and Recommendation was issued 1 

recommending that D.C.'s request for early removal 2 

from the Self-Exclusion List be denied.   3 

    This matter is now ready for the 4 

Board's consideration.   5 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  6 

May I have a motion, please?   7 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Madam Chair, Commissioner 8 

Dunbar moves that the Board adopt the Report and 9 

Recommendation issued by the OHA as described by the 10 

OCC and that D.C.'s Petition for Removal from the 11 

Self-Exclusion List be denied.   12 

    MR. DILLON:  Commissioner Dillon 13 

seconds.   14 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   15 

AYES RESPOND 16 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 17 

adopted.   18 

    ATTORNEY ZIMMERMANN:  The final Report 19 

and Recommendation is Lance Chatman's, Jr. - Lance 20 

Chatman, Jr.'s. 21 

    On May 14, 2024, the OEC filed a 22 

Petition to place Mr. Chatman on the Board's 23 

Involuntary - Involuntary Exclusion List.  A hearing 24 

in this matter was held September 3rd, 2025.  OEC 25 
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appeared, presenting testimony and documentary 1 

evidence.  Although receiving proper notice, Mr. 2 

Chatman failed to appear.   3 

    The evidence and testimony presented 4 

at the hearing showed that on June 9, 2023, Mr. 5 

Chatman, along with co-conspirators at Rivers Casino 6 

Pittsburgh, were involved in a physical altercation 7 

in the restroom, which then spilled out onto the 8 

Gaming Floor, resulting in injuries to several 9 

innocent and elderly patrons.  He was criminally 10 

charged for this conduct and permanently banned from 11 

the casino.   12 

    Consequently, a Report and 13 

Recommendation was issued, recommending that Mr. 14 

Chatman be placed on the Board's Involuntary 15 

Exclusion List.   16 

    And this matter is now ripe for the 17 

Board's consideration.   18 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  19 

May I have a motion, please?   20 

    MR. DILLON:  Madam Chair, Commissioner 21 

Dillon moves that the Board adopt the Report and 22 

Recommendation issued by the OHA as described by the 23 

OCC and that Lance Chatman, Jr. be placed on the 24 

Board's Involuntary Exclusion List.   25 
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    MR. DERMODY:  Commissioner Dermody 1 

seconds.   2 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   3 

AYES RESPOND 4 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 5 

adopted.   6 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  That concludes the 7 

matters of the OCC.  Thank you.   8 

    CHAIR:  Thank you, Chad and Steve.  9 

Before we move on to licensing matters, we're going 10 

to take a five-minute break.   11 

SHORT BREAK TAKEN    12 

    CHAIR:  All right.  Good morning, 13 

everybody.  We're going back on the record.  We will 14 

now have the Bureau of Licensing matters presented by 15 

the Director of the Bureau of Licensing, Sean Hannon. 16 

Sean.   17 

    MR. HANNON:  Today's first licensing 18 

matter for your consideration is the renewal of a 19 

Sports Wagering Certificate for Mountainview 20 

Thoroughbred Racing Association, LLC d/b/a Hollywood 21 

Casino Morgantown - Hollywood Casino Morgantown.  The 22 

Bureau of Licensing, Bureau of Investigations and 23 

Enforcement (BIE) and Office of Sports Wagering 24 

Operations has completed its review of the documents 25 
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and the Bureau of Licensing has provided you with a 1 

Background Investigation and Suitability Report.   2 

    I have provided you with a draft Order 3 

and ask that you consider the renewal of Category 4's 4 

Licensee (sic) Mountainview Thoroughbred Racing 5 

Association, LLC (Morgantown)'s Sports Wagering 6 

Certificate.   7 

    ATTORNEY STUART:  Thank you.   8 

    Glen Stuart with the OEC.  Last name 9 

is S-T-U-A-R-T.  OEC has no objection.   10 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  11 

May I have a motion, please?   12 

    MR. DERMODY:  Madam Chair, 13 

Commissioner Dermody moves that the Board grant the 14 

Sports Wagering Certificate renewal as described by 15 

the Bureau of Licensing.   16 

    MR. DILLON:  Commissioner Dillon 17 

seconds.   18 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   19 

AYES RESPOND 20 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 21 

adopted.   22 

    MR. HANNON:  The next licensing matter 23 

for your consideration is the Interactive Gaming 24 

Manufacturer License for Technologies Hub Ltd.  25 
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Formed in 2019, its principal place of business is in 1 

Malta.  The company develops, hosts and distributes 2 

casino games for integration into platforms of 3 

licensed Pennsylvania operators.  The company was 4 

granted interim authorization on July 9th, 2025.   5 

    The BIE has completed its 6 

investigation and the Bureau of Licensing has 7 

provided you with a Background Investigation and 8 

Suitability Report.  I have provided you with a draft 9 

Order and ask that you consider the Order to approve 10 

Technologies Hub Ltd. for an Interactive Gaming 11 

Manufacturer License.   12 

    ATTORNEY STUART:  OEC has no 13 

objection.   14 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  15 

May I have a motion, please?   16 

    MR. DILLON:  Madam Chair,  17 

Commissioner Dillon moves that the Board grant the 18 

Interactive Gaming Manufacturer License as described 19 

by the Bureau of Licensing.   20 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Commissioner Huffman 21 

seconds.   22 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   23 

AYES RESPOND 24 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion passes.   25 
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    MR. HANNON:  Next is the renewal of a 1 

Slot Machine Manufacturer Designee License for NRT 2 

Technologies, Incorporated.  The company was formed 3 

in 2002 and its principal place of business is in Las 4 

Vegas, Nevada.  NRT Technologies provides sales and 5 

technical support to licensed slot machine 6 

manufacturer NRT Technologies Corp.   7 

    The BIE has completed its 8 

investigation of the company and the Bureau of 9 

Licensing has provided you with a Background 10 

Investigation and Suitability Report.  I have 11 

provided you with a draft Order and ask that the 12 

Board consider the Order to approve the Slot Machine 13 

Manufacturer Designee License for NRT Technologies, 14 

Inc.   15 

    ATTORNEY STUART:  OEC has no 16 

objection.   17 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  18 

May I have a motion, please?   19 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Madam Chair, 20 

Commissioner Huffman moves that the Board grant the 21 

Slot Machine Manufacturer Designee License renewal as 22 

described by the Bureau of Licensing.   23 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Commissioner Dunbar 24 

seconds.   25 
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    CHAIR:  All in favor?   1 

AYES RESPOND 2 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion passes.   3 

    MR. HANNON:  Next is the approval of a 4 

Video Game - Gaming Terminal Establishment License 5 

renewal for CHR Corp. doing business as Rutter's 6 

Store 87.  The BIE has completed its investigation 7 

and the Bureau of Licensing has provided you with a 8 

Background Investigation and Suitability Report.  I 9 

have provided you with a draft Order and ask the 10 

Board to consider the Order to renew the Video Gaming 11 

Terminal Establishment License for CHR Corp. doing 12 

business as Rutter's Store Number 87, located at 731 13 

Rishel Hill Road in Bellefonte.   14 

    ATTORNEY STUART:  OEC has no 15 

objection.   16 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  17 

May I have a motion, please?   18 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Madam Chair, Commissioner 19 

Dunbar moves that the Board grant the Video Gaming 20 

Terminal Establishment License renewal as described 21 

by the Bureau of Licensing.   22 

    MR. DILLON:  Commissioner Dillon 23 

seconds.   24 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   25 
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AYES RESPOND 1 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion passes.   2 

    MR. HANNON:  Next there are Principal, 3 

Key Employee and Qualifier Licenses.  The Bureau of 4 

Licensing provided you with a proposed Order for 5 

three Principals, 18 Key Employees and two 6 

Qualifiers.  I ask the Board consider the Order 7 

approving these licenses.   8 

    ATTORNEY STUART:  OEC has no 9 

objection.   10 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  11 

May I have a motion, please?   12 

    MR. DILLON:  Madam Chair, Commissioner 13 

Dillon moves that the Board grant the Principal, Key 14 

Employee and Qualifier Licenses as described by the 15 

Bureau of Licensing.   16 

    MR. DERMODY:  Commissioner Dermody 17 

seconds.   18 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   19 

AYES RESPOND 20 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion carries.  21 

    MR. HANNON:  There are also Principal 22 

and Key Employee Temporary Credentials.  The Bureau 23 

of Licensing provided you with an Order regarding the 24 

issuance of temporary credentials for three 25 
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Principals and 10 Key Employees.  I ask the Board 1 

consider the Order approving these credentials.   2 

    ATTORNEY STUART:  OEC has no 3 

objection.   4 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  5 

May I have a motion, please?   6 

    MR. DERMODY:  Madam Chair, 7 

Commissioner Dermody moves that the Board grant the 8 

Temporary Principal and Key Employee Credentials as 9 

described by the Bureau of Licensing.   10 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Commissioner Huffman 11 

seconds.   12 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   13 

AYES RESPOND 14 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 15 

adopted.  16 

    MR. HANNON: 17 

    Additionally for your consideration 18 

are Gaming Employee Permits and Non-Gaming Employee 19 

Registrations.  The Bureau of Licensing has provided 20 

you with a list of 462 individuals to whom the Bureau 21 

has granted temporary or full Occupation Permits and 22 

193 individuals to whom the Bureau has granted 23 

Registrations under the authority delegated to the 24 

Bureau of Licensing.  I ask that the Board consider a 25 
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motion approving the Order.   1 

    ATTORNEY STUART:  OEC has no 2 

objection.   3 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  4 

May I have a motion, please?   5 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Madam Chair, Commissioner 6 

Dunbar moves that the Board approve the applications 7 

for Gaming Employee Occupation Permits and  8 

Non-Employee - Non-Gaming Employee Registrations as 9 

described by the Bureau of Licensing.   10 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Commissioner Huffman 11 

seconds.   12 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   13 

AYES RESPOND 14 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 15 

adopted.   16 

    MR. HANNON:  Next there is a 17 

recommendation of denial for five Non-Gaming 18 

Applicants.  The Bureau of Licensing provided you 19 

with an Order addressing the applicants who the OEC 20 

has recommended for denial.  I ask that the Board 21 

consider the Order approving these denials.   22 

    ATTORNEY STUART:  OEC continues to 23 

recommend a denial in each instance.   24 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  25 
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May I have a motion, please?   1 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Madam Chair, 2 

Commissioner Huffman moves that the Board deny the 3 

Non-Gaming Employee Applications as described by the 4 

Bureau of Licensing.   5 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Commissioner Dunbar 6 

seconds.   7 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   8 

AYES RESPOND 9 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 10 

adopted.   11 

    MR. HANNON:  The next matter for your 12 

consideration is a Withdrawal Request.  In each case, 13 

the License, Permit or Registration is no longer 14 

required.  For today's meeting I've provided the 15 

Board 15 Gaming and nine Non-Gaming Applicants.  I 16 

ask that the Board consider the Orders approving 17 

these Withdrawals.   18 

    ATTORNEY STUART:  OEC has no 19 

objection.   20 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  21 

May I have a motion, please?   22 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Madam Chair, Commissioner 23 

Dunbar moves that the Board grant the Withdrawal of 24 

Gaming and Non-Gaming Employee Applications as 25 
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described by the Bureau of Licensing.   1 

    MR. DILLON:  Commissioner Dillon 2 

seconds.   3 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   4 

AYES RESPOND 5 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 6 

adopted.   7 

    MR. HANNON:  And finally we have an 8 

Order to issue Gaming Service Provider Certifications 9 

to Affairs to be Remembered, Incorporated; Kero 10 

Gaming, LLC and Gameplai doing business as Gameplai 11 

UK Ltd.   12 

    I have provided you with a draft Order 13 

and ask the Board consider the Order certifying these 14 

companies.   15 

    ATTORNEY STUART:  OEC has no 16 

objection.   17 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  18 

May I have a motion, please?   19 

    MR. DILLON:  Madam Chair, Commissioner 20 

Dillon moves that the Board approve the Gaming 21 

Service Provider Certifications as described by the 22 

Bureau of Licensing.   23 

    MR. DERMODY:  Commissioner Dermody 24 

seconds.   25 
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    CHAIR:  All in favor?   1 

AYES RESPOND 2 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 3 

adopted.   4 

    MR. HANNON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.   5 

    CHAIR:  Thank you, Sean and Glen.  6 

Next is the OEC.   7 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Still morning.  Good 8 

morning, Madam Chair, -   9 

    CHAIR:  Good morning. 10 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  - members of the 11 

Board.  Cyrus Pitre, P-I-T-R-E, Chief Enforcement 12 

Counsel.   13 

    Today the OEC will present 15 matters 14 

for the Board's consideration, which we will present 15 

two Consent Agreements, four Revocations and  16 

nine Involuntary Exclusions.   17 

    The next matter on the agenda for the 18 

Board's consideration is a Consent Agreement between 19 

the OEC and Video Gaming Terminal Establishment 20 

Licensee Raceway Management Company, Inc. doing 21 

business as Onvo - Lake Ariel.   22 

    The matter will be presented by Senior 23 

Enforcement Counsel David Tepper.  Representatives 24 

for Onvo - Lake Ariel are present.  And at this time 25 
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I request that those individuals please introduce 1 

themselves for the record and that all non-attorney 2 

witnesses please stand and be sworn.  3 

--- 4 

WITNESSES SWORN EN MASSE 5 

--- 6 

    COURT REPORTER:  Thank you.  Would you 7 

please state and spell your name? 8 

    MR. DANNIEL:  Sure.  Gerald,  9 

G-E-R-A-L-D.  Last name Danniel, D-A-N-N-I-E-L.   10 

    ATTORNEY HAYES:  And Madam Chair, I'm 11 

Kevin Hayes from the Saiber Law Firm.  I represent 12 

Raceway Management. 13 

    CHAIR:  Thank you.   14 

    ATTORNEY HAYES:  H-A-Y-E-S.   15 

    ATTORNEY TEPPER:  Good morning, Chair 16 

Smyler, members of the Board, David Tepper,  17 

T-E-P-P-E-R, on behalf of the OEC. 18 

    Raceway Management Company, doing 19 

business as Onvo - Lake Ariel, holds a VGT 20 

Establishment License.   21 

    VGT Establishments are required to 22 

always have a Board-credentialed employee on duty 23 

when video gaming terminals are available for play at 24 

a licensed truck stop.  During a routine inspection 25 
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on February 13th, 2024, the BIE determined that video 1 

gaming terminals were available for play at Onvo - 2 

Lake Ariel while no employee holding a current  3 

Board-issued credential was on duty.  The individual 4 

on duty previously held a Gaming Employee Occupation 5 

Permit issued to him, but it had expired on July 6 

30th, 2023.   7 

    During an investigation of Onvo - Lake 8 

Ariel, which looked at their operations from  9 

January 16, 2024 to February 13, 2024, it was 10 

determined that on eight of these days, wagers were 11 

placed with VGTs for more than one hour while there 12 

was no Board-credentialed employee on duty.    13 

    Specifically, during this time, VGTs 14 

were available for play for approximately 80 hours 15 

and 15 minutes while no employee holding a current 16 

Board-issued credential was on duty.   17 

    Further, during that time, wagers were 18 

placed for approximately 17 hours and 18 minutes 19 

while no employee holding a current Board-issued 20 

credential was on duty.   21 

    BIE's investigation also determined 22 

that the employee on duty had been working in a 23 

capacity which required a Board-issued credential, 24 

supervising the video gaming area while possessing an 25 
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expired Board-issued credential from July 31st, 2023 1 

until February 13th, 2024.  The employee was 2 

subsequently issued a VGT Gaming Employee Permit in 3 

March of 2024.   4 

    At this time, the OEC requests that 5 

the Board approve this Consent Agreement between the 6 

parties.  The terms of the settlement include that 7 

within five days of the Board's Order approving the 8 

Consent Agreement, Onvo - Lake Ariel shall pay a 9 

civil penalty in the amount of $26,000 for these 10 

violations.  Also, within five days of the Board's 11 

Order approving this Consent Agreement, Onvo - Lake 12 

Ariel shall pay the Board $2,500 for costs incurred 13 

by the OEC, the BIE and other related Board staff in 14 

connection with this matter. 15 

    At this point, if you have any 16 

questions, we'd be happy to address them.   17 

    CHAIR:  Onvo, would you like to 18 

address the Board? 19 

    ATTORNEY HAYES:  Madam Chair, briefly, 20 

if I may.  Yeah.   21 

    CHAIR:  And where is Lake Ariel?   22 

    ATTORNEY HAYES:  It's in Wayne County, 23 

Northeastern Pennsylvania.  It's actually where I 24 

spend my summers.   25 
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    CHAIR:  Thank you.   1 

    ATTORNEY HAYES:  So, again, Madam 2 

Chair, members of the Board, Kevin Hayes from the 3 

Saiber Law Firm. 4 

    I appear before you today on behalf of 5 

Raceway Management Company, who owns several VGT 6 

establishments in the Commonwealth.   7 

    Appearing with me today is Gerry 8 

Danniel, who serves as the company's Chief Strategy 9 

Officer and Executive Vice President.  As this is the 10 

first time that Raceway Management is appearing 11 

before the Board and before addressing the Consent 12 

Agreement, I would like to begin by saying, I've had 13 

the privilege of representing this company for a 14 

number of years and I can attest that they're an 15 

outstanding, reputable, family-owned company that's 16 

been in business for 35 years and has made a sincere 17 

effort to comply with the Board's regulations 18 

relating to VGT operations.   19 

    I know the Board is well aware of the 20 

challenges the VGT establishments face with the limit 21 

- with the limitation on the number of positions 22 

which they can offer, the statutory restrictions on 23 

marketing, and the ever-growing competition that they 24 

face from unregulated gaming operations which are 25 
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offered at the gas stations, truck stops and other 1 

businesses surrounding their establishments.   2 

    These fines are significant, 3 

especially when you consider the amount of gaming 4 

revenue that these facilities are actually 5 

generating, which I know the Board is privy to that 6 

information.   7 

    With that said, Raceway Management 8 

agrees with the OEC's recitation of the facts.  The 9 

issues described at the Lake Ariel Facility were due 10 

in part to an employee working with an expired Gaming 11 

Employee Occupational Permit.   12 

    Since the time of the incident, 13 

Raceway Management has revised its company policy to 14 

ensure that the video gaming - video gaming area is 15 

only open to the public when an employee who holds a 16 

valid Occupational Permit and who has successfully 17 

completed all training is on duty.   18 

    These corrective actions undertaken by 19 

Raceway are described in the Consent Agreement.  And 20 

we are pleased to report that there have been no 21 

reported incidents of VG - of VGT operations being 22 

conducted without a permitted employee on duty at the 23 

Lake Ariel facility since implementing the new 24 

protocols described in the Consent Agreement.   25 
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    With your permission, Madam Chair, 1 

Gerry Danniel would like the opportunity to address 2 

the Board.   3 

    CHAIR:  Absolutely.   4 

    ATTORNEY HAYES:  Okay.  Thank you.   5 

    MR. DANNIEL:  Good morning.  Good 6 

morning, Chair Smyler and members of the Board.  I'm 7 

Gerald Danniel, Chief Strategy Officer and EVP of 8 

Raceway Management.   9 

    Our company takes responsibility for 10 

the issues identified in the - in this Consent 11 

Agreement and the next one coming up.  We are 12 

committed in complying with the regulations of the 13 

Gaming Control Board at all our VGT locations.   14 

    As Attorney Hayes just reported, our 15 

company has taken steps to ensure that these issues 16 

do not occur again.  We look forward to continuing to 17 

cooperate with your staff to maintain safe and 18 

responsible gaming operations in this very 19 

competitive environment.  Thank you.   20 

    CHAIR:  Thank you.  Any questions or 21 

comments from the Board?   22 

    I just would ask all the steps that 23 

you're taking, are you making sure they're taken not 24 

only with regard to these two locations, but at all 25 
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the Raceway locations that have VGTs?  1 

    MR. DANNIEL:  Yes.   2 

    CHAIR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Okay.  No 3 

more questions or comments.   4 

    May I have a motion, please?   5 

    MR. DERMODY:  Madam Chair,  6 

Commissioner Dermody moves that the Board approve the 7 

Consent Agreement between the OEC and Raceway 8 

Management Company, doing business as Onvo - Lake 9 

Ariel as described by the OEC.   10 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Commissioner Dunbar 11 

seconds.   12 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   13 

AYES RESPOND 14 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 15 

adopted.   16 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Next matter on the 17 

agenda for the Board's consideration is a Consent 18 

Agreement between the OEC and VGT Establishment 19 

Raceway Management Company, Inc. doing business as 20 

Onvo - Gibson.   21 

    Once again, the matter will be 22 

presented by Senior Enforcement Counsel David Tepper. 23 

    ATTORNEY TEPPER:  Raceway Management 24 

Company, doing business as Onvo - Gibson, holds a VGT 25 
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Establishment License.  VGT Establishment Licenses 1 

are required to have a Board-credentialed employee on 2 

duty when video gaming terminals are available for 3 

play at a licensed truck stop.   4 

    During a routine inspection on 5 

February 13th, 2024, the BIE determined that video 6 

gaming terminals were available for play at Onvo -7 

Gibson while no employee holding a Board - current 8 

Board credential was on duty.  The individual - the 9 

individual on duty during the inspection advised BIE 10 

that he was in the process of applying for a VGT 11 

Gaming Employee Occupation Permit but had not yet 12 

been fingerprinted or issued a Board-issued 13 

credential.   14 

    During an investigation of Onvo - 15 

Gibson, which looked at their operations from January 16 

16, 2024 through February 13, 2024, it was determined 17 

on 23 of these days, wagers were placed on VGTs for 18 

more than one hour while there was no Board-19 

credentialed employee on duty.  Specifically during 20 

this time, VGTs were available for play for 21 

approximately 320 hours and one minute while no 22 

employee holding a valid Board-issued credential was 23 

on duty.  And that further, during this time, wagers 24 

were placed for approximately 66 hours and 34 minutes 25 
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while there was no Board-issued credentialed employee 1 

on duty.   2 

    BIE's investigation also determined 3 

that the employee on duty during the inspection was 4 

working in a capacity which required a Board-issued 5 

credential while supervising the video gaming area 6 

without such a credential from July 24th, 2023 until 7 

February 13th, 2024, working a total of 153 shifts in 8 

this capacity.  The employee was subsequently issued 9 

a VGT Gaming Employee Occupation Permit in March 10 

2024.   11 

    At this time, the OEC requests that 12 

the Board approve this Consent Agreement between the 13 

parties.  The terms of the settlement include that 14 

within five days of the Board's Order approving the 15 

Consent Agreement, Onvo - Gibson shall pay a penalty 16 

in the amount of $63,000 for these violations.  Also 17 

within five days of the Board's Order approving this 18 

Consent Agreement, Onvo - Gibson shall pay the Board 19 

$2,500 for the cost incurred by the OEC, the BIE, and 20 

other related Board staff in connection with this 21 

matter.   22 

    If you have any questions, we would be 23 

happy to address them at this time.   24 

    CHAIR:  Okay.  Raceway, would you like 25 
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to address the Board.   1 

    ATTORNEY HAYES:  Briefly, Madam Chair. 2 

Now, Gibson is located in Susquehanna County, which 3 

is also Northeastern Pennsylvania.   4 

    CHAIR:  Thank you.   5 

    ATTORNEY HAYES:  And the location - my 6 

location of my - my father's first assignment as a 7 

Pennsylvania State Trooper at that barrack.  So, I 8 

know it well.   9 

    Listen, we agree with the recitation 10 

of the facts described by the OEC.  As indicated in 11 

the Consent Agreement, the issues which led to the 12 

violation stem in part from an employee who had -   13 

who was on duty, had submitted his VGT Gaming 14 

Employee Permit to the PGCB, but had not yet been 15 

fingerprinted, which is not an excuse, but kind of 16 

shows you where the thought pattern was at that time. 17 

     Again, the fine here is substantial to 18 

Raceway Management, when you consider the amount of 19 

gaming revenues that are generated at that location. 20 

     Since the time of the incident, the 21 

company has implemented the same revised protocols 22 

which I referenced in the previous matter and as 23 

described in the Consent Agreement.  I'm pleased to 24 

report that since these revised company policies have 25 
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been implemented, there have been - there have not 1 

been any reported incidents at this location of the 2 

VGT room being operated without a permitted employee 3 

on duty.   4 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?   5 

    MR. DILLON:  I have one.   6 

    CHAIR:  Commissioner Dillon.   7 

    MR. DILLON:  Yes.  Does this employee 8 

still work for you?   9 

    MR. DANNIEL:  Okay.  I'm not sure 10 

about that.  I don't know -.   11 

    ATTORNEY HAYES:  We don't - we don't 12 

know if he ever got credentialed.  Ultimately - he 13 

ultimately was credentialed.  I just don't know if he 14 

was.  If he was - if he's still an active employee. 15 

    MR. DILLON:  Okay. 16 

    ATTORNEY HAYES:  Correct?   17 

    ATTORNEY HAYES:  Yes.  Yeah, he was - 18 

he was credentialed.  It just he was not - the 19 

process was not completed at the time that the 20 

inspection occurred.   21 

    MR. DILLON:  Yeah, I just wanted to 22 

know if it got completed.   23 

    ATTORNEY TEPPER:  It was completed and 24 

he was issued a credential the next month.   25 
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    MR. DILLON:  Okay.   1 

    CHAIR:  Was this the location where 2 

they had an infant in the room?   3 

    ATTORNEY HAYES:  It is not that 4 

location.  Fortunately, none of the gaming activity 5 

that occurred was - was with minors.   6 

    CHAIR:  Okay.  Excellent.  Thank you.  7 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  At this time I'll 8 

turn it over to Deputy Chief Enforcement Counsel 9 

Dustin Miller to provide an introduction for the 10 

Default Judgement -.  11 

    CHAIR:  We did not vote yet.   12 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Oh. 13 

    CHAIR:  Sorry.  Sorry, Cyrus.   14 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Well, Chair, I always 15 

count the money before it's handed in.   16 

    CHAIR:  Any other questions or 17 

comments?  May I have a motion, please?   18 

    MR. DERMODY:  Madam Chair, 19 

Commissioner Dermody moves that the Board approve the 20 

Consent Agreement between the OEC and Raceway 21 

Management Company, doing business as Onvo - Gibson 22 

described by the OEC.   23 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Commissioner Huffman 24 

seconds.   25 
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    CHAIR:  All in favor?   1 

AYES RESPOND 2 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 3 

adopted.  Thank you, gentlemen.   4 

    MR. DANNIEL:  Thank you.   5 

    ATTORNEY HAYES:  Thank you. 6 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Now, at this time, 7 

I'll - I'll turn the matter over to Deputy Chief 8 

Enforcement Counsel Dustin Miller to present default 9 

judgments.   10 

    ATTORNEY MILLER:  Good morning, Chair 11 

Smyler, members of the Board, Dustin Miller, on 12 

behalf of the OEC, M-I-L-L-E-R. 13 

    The next matter on the agenda consists 14 

of enforcement actions in which the OEC filed a 15 

complaint seeking the revocation of licenses 16 

previously issued by the Board.  The complaint has 17 

been filed with the Board's OHA and properly served 18 

upon the persons named in the complaint.  The persons 19 

named in the complaint failed to respond within 30 20 

days as required by Board regulation.  As a result, 21 

the OEC filed a Request for Default Judgment and 22 

properly served the same upon each respondent.   23 

    Therefore, the facts in the complaint 24 

are deemed admitted.  All filed documents have been 25 



 
 

S argent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

63 

provided to the Board and the matters are presently 1 

ripe for the Board's consideration.   2 

    In each matter, we will provide a 3 

summary of the facts and make a request for the 4 

appropriate Board action.   5 

    ATTORNEY TEPPER:  Good morning again, 6 

Chair Smyler, members of the Board.   7 

    Mann & Sidhu, Inc., doing business as 8 

Bald Eagle Truck Stop holds a VGT Establishment 9 

License.  Jaymeet Singh Mann, Harpreet Singh Sidhu 10 

and Dilpreet Kaur Mann are owners of Bald Eagle Truck 11 

Stop and each hold VGT Principal Qualifier Licenses. 12 

    Establishments are required to have a 13 

Board-issued credentialed employee on duty at all 14 

times that video gaming terminals are available for 15 

play at a truck stop.  During a routine inspection on 16 

February 22nd, 2024, the BIE determined that video 17 

gaming terminals were available for play at Bald 18 

Eagle Truck Stop while no Board-credentialed employee 19 

was on duty.   20 

    A subsequent BIE investigation found 21 

that between January 27th, 2024 through  22 

February 27th, 2024, on eight days there was no  23 

Board-credentialed employee on duty and wagers were 24 

placed at the VGTs for amounts of time ranging from 25 
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14 minutes to 3 hours and 40 minutes.   1 

    Additionally, BIE's investigation in 2 

this matter found that on December 27th, 2023, a 3 

patron brought in a minor under 1 years of age into 4 

the video gaming area at approximately 10:53 p.m. 5 

This patron and the infant remained in the video 6 

gaming area for approximately 2 hours and 39 minutes. 7 

And at approximately 12:27 a.m. on December 28th, 8 

2023, a Bald Eagle employee who was not displaying a 9 

Board-issued credential made contact with the patron 10 

and the infant but did not require the infant's 11 

removal from the video gaming area.  Later, the 12 

infant was allowed to operate or play a video gaming 13 

terminal by the patron on approximately 11 instances. 14 

    Establishments are also required to 15 

sell an average of 50,000 gallons of diesel or 16 

biodiesel fuel per month over a 12-month period in 17 

order to meet the definition of truck stop 18 

establishment and be issued an Establishment License. 19 

In 2023, Bald Eagle Truck Stop executed a 20 

Supplemental Statement of Conditions for Video Gaming 21 

Terminal Establishments in which they agreed to 22 

continue selling an average of 50,000 gallons of 23 

diesel or biodiesel fuel per month each year.  24 

Between July 2023 and June 2024, Bald Eagle sold an 25 
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average of 29,457 gallons of diesel or biodiesel fuel 1 

and between - and as a result they received a warning 2 

letter from the OEC.  Between July 2024 and June 3 

2025, Bald Eagle sold an average of 32,598 gallons of 4 

diesel or biodiesel fuel per month.   5 

    At this time, the OEC requests that 6 

the Board revoke the VGT Establishment License issued 7 

to Mann & Sidhu, Inc., doing business as Bald Eagle 8 

Truck Stop and the Video Gaming Terminal Principal 9 

Qualifier Licenses issued to Jaymeet Singh Mann, 10 

Harpreet Singh Sidhu and Dilpreet Kaur Mann.   11 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  12 

May I have a motion, please?   13 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Madam Chair, 14 

Commissioner Huffman moves that the Board approve the 15 

revocation of Mann & Sidhu, Inc.'s, doing business as 16 

Bald Eagle Truck Stops' VGT Establishment License and 17 

the revocation of Jaymeet Singh Mann, Harpreet Singh 18 

Sidhu and Dilpreet Kaur Mann's VGT Principal 19 

Qualifier Licenses for the conduct described by the 20 

OEC.   21 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Commissioner Dunbar 22 

seconds.   23 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   24 

AYES RESPOND 25 



 
 

S argent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

66 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion passes.   1 

    ATTORNEY MILLER:  The remaining 2 

matters on the agenda consist of enforcement actions 3 

in which the OEC filed Petitions seeking the 4 

involuntary exclusion of individuals who are inimical 5 

to the interests of the Commonwealth and/or license 6 

gaming therein.   7 

    In each instance the Petition for 8 

exclusion has been filed with the Board's OHA and 9 

properly served upon the individual named in the 10 

Petition.  The individual named in each Petition 11 

failed to respond within 30 days as required by Board 12 

regulation.  As a result, the OEC filed a Request for 13 

Default Judgment in each instance and properly served 14 

the same upon each individual.  Therefore, all facts 15 

in each Petition are deemed admitted, all filed 16 

documents have been provided to the Board and the 17 

matters are presently ripe for Board consideration.   18 

    In each instance, if the Board orders 19 

the proposed exclusion, each individual's photo, 20 

personal identifiers and a summary of the inimical 21 

conduct may be placed on the Board's public website. 22 

Once again, in each instance, we will provide a 23 

summary of the facts and make a request for the 24 

appropriate Board action.   25 
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    ATTORNEY KOLESAR:  Good morning.  1 

Sarah Kolesar, K-O-L-E-S-A-R, with the OEC.  The next 2 

matter on the agenda is a request to place Aaron 3 

Amuso on the Involuntary Exclusion List.  Mr. Amuso 4 

was present at Live! Casino Pittsburgh when he stole 5 

a stack of bills totaling $10,000 that were left on 6 

top of a slot machine by a patron.  Mr. Amuso placed 7 

the stack of bills in his pocket and exited the 8 

premises.  As a result of his actions, Mr. Amuso was 9 

criminally charged and entered into a guilty plea to 10 

a felony theft-related offense related to the 11 

incident.   12 

    At this time, the OEC requests that 13 

the Board place Aaron Amuso on the Involuntary 14 

Exclusion List.   15 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  16 

May I have a motion, please?   17 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Madam Chair, Commissioner 18 

Dunbar moves that the Board approve the addition of 19 

Aaron Amuso to the PGCB Involuntary Exclusion List 20 

for the conduct described by the OEC.   21 

    MR. DILLON:  Commissioner Dillon 22 

seconds.   23 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   24 

AYES RESPOND 25 
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    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion passes.  1 

    ATTORNEY KOLESAR:  Once again, Sarah 2 

Kolesar.  The next matter on the agenda is a request 3 

to place Timothy Conner on the Involuntary Exclusion 4 

List.   5 

    Mr. Conner was present at Valley - 6 

Valley Forge Casino Resort when he left a  7 

six-year-old child alone in a vehicle in the parking 8 

lot for approximately 32 minutes while he went into 9 

the casino to utilize an ATM and actively game at the 10 

slot machines.  No criminal charges were filed 11 

related to this incident, but Mr. Conner was 12 

permanently evicted from Valley Forge for his 13 

actions.   14 

    At this time, the OEC requests that 15 

the Board place Timothy Conner on the Involuntary 16 

Exclusion List.   17 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  18 

May I have a motion, please?   19 

    MR. DILLON:  Madam Chair, Commissioner 20 

Dillon moves that the Board approve the addition of 21 

Timothy Conner to the PGCB Involuntary Exclusion List 22 

for the conduct described by the OEC.   23 

    MR. DERMODY:  Commissioner Dermody 24 

seconds.   25 
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    CHAIR:  All in favor?   1 

AYES RESPOND 2 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion passes.   3 

    ATTORNEY SANCHEZ:  Good morning, Madam 4 

Chair, Commissioners, Juan Sanchez, S-A-N-C-H-E-Z, 5 

Assistant Enforcement Counsel with the OEC.   6 

    The next matter on the agenda is a 7 

request to place Edward Darden on the Board's 8 

Involuntary Exclusion List.   9 

    Edward Darden left two of his 10 

children, ages 6 and 8, unattended at Live! Casino 11 

Philadelphia in the parking lot on two occasions for 12 

a total of 75 minutes to play table games.  No 13 

criminal charges were filed against Mr. Darden 14 

arising out of this incident and Live! permanently 15 

evicted Mr. Darden from their property as a result of 16 

this incident.   17 

    The OEC now requests the Board place 18 

Edward Darden on the Involuntary Exclusion List.   19 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  20 

May I have a motion, please?   21 

    MR. DERMODY:  Madam Chair,  22 

Commissioner Dermody moves that the Board approve the 23 

addition of Edward Darden to the Pennsylvania Gaming 24 

Control Board's Involuntary Exclusion List for the 25 
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conduct described by the OEC.   1 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Commissioner Huffman 2 

seconds.   3 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   4 

AYES RESPOND 5 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 6 

adopted.   7 

    ATTORNEY SANCHEZ:  Again, Juan 8 

Sanchez.   9 

    The next three matters on the agenda 10 

for the Board's considerations stem from the same or 11 

a similar set of facts.  Therefore, with the Board's 12 

permission, I will recite one set of facts, then ask 13 

for each individual to be placed on the Board's 14 

Interactive Gaming Involuntary Exclusion List and/or 15 

the Casino Involuntary Exclusion List.   16 

    Julio Azuris, Yuleika Paulina and 17 

Bradley Silvestre each created accounts on the Wind 18 

Creek Bethlehem interactive gaming platform funded 19 

through deposits from lost and/or stolen financial 20 

instruments.  Mr. Azuris and Mr. Silvestre only gamed 21 

online, but they entered Wind Creek Bethlehem Casino 22 

to withdraw funds from their respective interactive 23 

gaming accounts.  Subsequently, each failed or 24 

refused to pay funds due to Wind Creek Bethlehem as a 25 
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result of their online gaming activity.  All their 1 

accounts were closed and the devices used by them 2 

were blocked by Wind Creek Bethlehem.  No criminal 3 

charges were filed.   4 

    The OEC now requests that the Board 5 

place Julio Azuris on the Interactive Gaming 6 

Involuntary Exclusion List and the Casino Involuntary 7 

Exclusion List.   8 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  9 

May I have a motion, please? 10 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Madam Commissioner - 11 

Madam Chair, Commissioner Huffman moves that the 12 

Board approve the addition of Julio Azuris to the 13 

PGCB Involuntary Exclusion List and the Involuntary 14 

Interactive Gaming Exclusion List for the conduct 15 

described by the OEC.   16 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Commissioner Dunbar 17 

seconds.   18 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   19 

AYES RESPOND 20 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 21 

adopted.   22 

    ATTORNEY SANCHEZ:  The OEC now 23 

requests the Board place Yuleika Paulina on the 24 

Interactive Gaming Involuntary Exclusion List.   25 
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    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  1 

May I have a motion, please?   2 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Madam Chair,  3 

Commissioner Dunbar moves that the Board approve the 4 

addition of Yuleika Paulina to the PGCB Involuntary 5 

Gaming Exclusion - Interactive Gaming Exclusion List 6 

for the conduct described by the OEC.   7 

    MR. DILLON:  Commissioner Dillon 8 

seconds.   9 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   10 

AYES RESPOND 11 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 12 

adopted.   13 

    ATTORNEY SANCHEZ:  The OEC now 14 

requests the Board place Bradley Silvestre on the 15 

Interactive Gaming Involuntary Exclusion List and the 16 

Casino Involuntary Exclusion List.   17 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  18 

May I have a motion, please?   19 

    MR. DILLON:  Madam Chair, Commissioner 20 

Dillon moves that the Board approve the addition of 21 

Bradley Silvestre to the PGCB Involuntary Exclusion 22 

List and to the Involuntary Interactive Gaming 23 

Exclusion List for the conduct described by the OEC.  24 

    MR. DERMODY:  Commissioner Dermody 25 
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seconds.   1 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   2 

AYES RESPOND 3 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 4 

adopted.   5 

    ATTORNEY SCIRROTTO:  Good morning, 6 

Madam Chair, members of the Board.  Kelci  7 

Scirrotto, S-C-I-R-R-O-T-T-O, Assistant Enforcement 8 

Counsel with the OEC.   9 

    The next matter on the agenda for the 10 

Board's consideration is a request to place Don Gajan 11 

on the Board's Interactive Gaming Involuntary 12 

Exclusion List.   13 

    Don Gajan created seven accounts on 14 

interactive gaming platform HollywoodCasino.com and 15 

12 accounts on Borgata Online interactive gaming 16 

platform, using the personal identifying information 17 

of other individuals.  All of the accounts were 18 

closed and the devices used were blocked from being 19 

used on a HollywoodCasino.com and Borgata Online.  No 20 

criminal charges were filed.   21 

    The OEC now requests that the Board 22 

place Don Gajan on the Interactive Gaming Involuntary 23 

Exclusion List.   24 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  25 
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May I have a motion, please?   1 

    MR. DERMODY:  Madam Chair, 2 

Commissioner Dermody moves that the Board approve the 3 

addition of Don Gajan to the PGCB Involuntary 4 

Interactive Gaming Exclusion List for the conduct 5 

described by the OEC. 6 

    MR. DILLON:  Commissioner Dillon 7 

seconds.   8 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   9 

AYES RESPOND 10 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion passes.   11 

    ATTORNEY ROBERTS:  Good morning, 12 

Chair, members of the Board.  Andrea Roberts,  13 

R-O-B-E-R-T-S, Assistant Enforcement Counsel. 14 

    The next matter on the agenda is a 15 

request to place James Hyduk on the Involuntary 16 

Exclusion List.   17 

    Mr. Hyduk was present at Live! Casino 18 

and Hotel Philadelphia on two separate dates when he 19 

stole cell phones belonging to other patrons.  Live! 20 

permanently banned Mr. Hyduk from their property as a 21 

result of these incidents.  Mr. Hyduk was criminally 22 

charged with theft and convicted for his actions.   23 

    At this time, the OEC requests the 24 

Board place James Hyduk on the Involuntary Exclusion 25 
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List.   1 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  2 

May I have a motion, please?   3 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Madam Chair, Commissioner 4 

Dunbar moves that the Board approve the addition of 5 

James Hyduk to the PGCB Involuntary Exclusion List 6 

for the conduct described by the OEC.   7 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Commissioner Huffman 8 

seconds.   9 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   10 

AYES RESPOND 11 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 12 

adopted.   13 

    ATTORNEY ROBERTS:  The next matter on 14 

the agenda is a request to place Latanya Robinson on 15 

the Involuntary Exclusion List.   16 

    Ms. Robinson was present at Live! 17 

Casino and Hotel Philadelphia when she left a     18 

seven-year-old minor unattended in a hotel room for 19 

approximately three hours and 42 minutes while she 20 

entered the Gaming Floor and played table games.  21 

Live! permanently banned Ms. Robinson from their 22 

property as a result of this incident.  No criminal 23 

charges were filed. 24 

    At this time, the OEC requests the 25 
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Board place Latanya Robinson on the Involuntary 1 

Exclusion List.   2 

    CHAIR:  Any questions or comments?  3 

May I have a motion, please?   4 

    MR. HUFFMAN:  Madam Chair,  5 

Commissioner Huffman moves that the Board approve the 6 

addition of Latanya Robinson to the PGCB Involuntary 7 

Exclusion List for the conduct described by the OEC.  8 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Commissioner Dunbar 9 

seconds.   10 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   11 

AYES RESPOND 12 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion's 13 

adopted.   14 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Thank you, Madam 15 

Chair, and Happy Thanksgiving to everyone.  That 16 

concludes our - our matters.   17 

    CHAIR:  Thank you.  Thank you, OEC.   18 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  You know, it's the 19 

first time I think I messed up in 19 years.   20 

    CHAIR:  I'd like to see all the past 21 

transcripts.   22 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  And I've never cursed 23 

on the record.   24 

    CHAIR:  First time for everything.  25 
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Anyway -.   1 

    The last item on the agenda for today 2 

is public comment.   3 

    Is there anyone in the room that would 4 

like to address the Board?   5 

    Seeing no one, that concludes today's 6 

meeting.  The next public meeting of the Board will 7 

be held on Wednesday, December 17, 2025 at 10:00  8 

a.m. at this location.  I would also like to wish 9 

everybody a Happy Thanksgiving.  And now may I please 10 

have a motion to adjourn?   11 

    MR. DUNBAR:  Madam Chair,  12 

Commissioner Dunbar makes a motion to adjourn.   13 

    MR. DILLON:  Commissioner Dillon 14 

seconds.   15 

    CHAIR:  All in favor?   16 

AYES RESPOND 17 

    CHAIR:  All opposed?  Motion passes.  18 

Meeting is adjourned, thank you everyone.  19 

* * * * * * * 20 

MEETING CONCLUDED AT 12:05 P.M.  21 

* * * * * * * 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 
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